**RECEIVED**

**May 26 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2021-CP-27-00069  
Appellate Case No. 2025-001116

---

Mark W. McGilton, Respondent,

v.

1223 May River Road, LLC, D.R. Horton, Inc., and  
Lotty Trucking, LLC f/k/a Ramos Trucking, LLC, Defendants,

of which D.R. Horton, Inc. is the Appellant,

AND

1223 May River Road, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc., Third-Party Defendants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The Circuit Court Abused Its Discretion When It Struck D.R. Horton, Inc.’s Amended Answer And Third-Party Complaint And Declared It In Default for Alleged Discovery Violations Thereby Providing Respondent A Possible Multi-Million Dollar Judgment From D.R. Horton, Inc. Who Did Not Own, Rent, Lease, Operate, Control, Manage, Engage, or Utilize The Vehicle Involved In The Accident And Did Not Employ, Contract With, Have Control Over, Manage, Engage, Or Utilize The Vehicle’s Driver.**
  
- II. **The Court Abused Its Discretion By Not Considering That Respondent Served On D.R. Horton, Inc., Overbroad Discovery Demands That Far Exceeded Appropriate Discovery In This Vehicular Accident Case, Including Discovery Requests For Years Of Documents and Information Before The Driver Became A Subcontractor Of Kenneth Scott Builders, And For Years Before Kenneth Scott Builders Became The General Contractor For Horizontal Development for Cypress Ridge, And Including Documents Related To All Of Cypress Ridge, A Development Of More Than 1,400 Acres, More Than 1400 Homes, and Developed in 19 Phases Over 15 Years, Which Discovery Requests D.R. Horton, Inc. Attempted To Satisfy And Narrow.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent filed suit in Beaufort County against Alfredo Uriostegui (“Uriostegui”) and Jacob-AU Trucking LLC (“Jacob-AU”)—the driver and owner, respectively, of the dump truck that collided with Respondent. Summons & Complaint, No. 2018-CP-07-00607, Mar. 20, 2018. ROA pp. 1378-1381. Respondent then filed an amended complaint adding Kenneth Scott Builders (“KSB”), the general contractor that hired Jacob-AU, as an additional defendant. Amended. Summons & Complaint, No. 2018-CP-07-00607, Apr. 12, 2018. ROA pp. 1383-1386. D.R. Horton was not named in that suit. Respondent eventually settled with KSB for \$1 million (the limits of its insurance policy) and dismissed his claims against KSB. Stipulation Dismissal Kenneth Scott

Builders, LLC, Feb. 24, 2022; Amended. Stipulation Dismissal, Feb. 10, 2023; and Oct. 23, 2024 email from Ben Shelton to John Crawford. ROA pp. 1387-1389; 1391; .

Almost three years after filing the Beaufort County action, Respondent filed the present action in Jasper County against 1223 May River Road, LLC (“May River”)—the owner of the development where Uriostegui was working at the time of the collision with Respondent, and Lotty Trucking—the company Respondent alleged was responsible for maintenance of the dump truck that Uriostegui was driving. Complaint, No. 2021-CP-27-00069, February 17, 2021. ROA pp. 67-81. Respondent also sued D.R. Horton in the Jasper County action in the same case. Plaintiff’s Complaint and Summons, filed February 17, 2021. ROA pp. 67-81. May River filed a third-party complaint against KSB, who Respondent did not include in this action and Motion to Dismiss. May River’s Amended Answer & Third-Party Complaint, Apr. 15, 2021. ROA pp. 100-106. Respondent, May River, and KSB settled their claims against one another, and the Court dismissed May River. Mot. Order Dismissal, Apr. 26, 2022; Order Dismissal 1223 May River Road, LLC, Oct. 26, 2022. ROA pp. 161-162; 7-9.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Default as to Defendant Lotty Trucking, LLC, f/k/a Ramos Trucking, LLC, on March 22, 2021 almost immediately for failure to timely answer the Complaint. ROA pp. 87-88.

Defendants D.R. Horton, Inc., and 1223 May River Road filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Transfer Venue, April 16, 2021, because there was a case already pending in Beaufort County, South Carolina for the same accident. ROA pp. 122-123. D.R. Horton filed a Memorandum in Support of Its Motion to Transfer Venue on August 16, 2022. ROA pp. 224-229, and an Amended Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Transfer Venue was filed August 16,

2022. ROA pp. 230-236. Plaintiff filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Change Venue, August 15, 2022. ROA pp. 189-194. Appellant and Respondent entered in a Consent Order on September 9, 2022 to settle discovery issues and Appellant's Motion to Transfer Venue to Beaufort County, South Carolina. ROA pp. 1-3.

D.R. Horton, Inc. filed an Answer to the Complaint on April 14, 2021, a Motion to Amend Answer on August 4, 2022, a Memorandum in Support of Its Motion to Amend, filed August 16, 2022, and a Summons and Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint to bring claims against KSB was filed October, 26, 2022 after the Court granted the motion to amend. ROA pp. 91-99; 167-168; 195-199; 476-493. Order Granting Motion to Amend, filed October 26, 2022. ROA pp. 4-6. The Answer and Amended Answer also included Motions to Dismiss. ROA pp. 476-493.

Kenneth Scott Builders, LLC filed its Answer to 1223 May Rivers Road Third-Party Complaint on May 27, 2021. ROA pp. 124-130. Kenneth Scott Builders filed its Answer to D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Third Party Complaint on November 22, 2022. ROA pp. 511-522.

Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel D.R. Horton, Inc., and Motion for Sanctions Per Rule 37 (d), SCRCP, Against Defendant D.R. Horton, Inc. on November 4, 2021. ROA pp. 131-132. D.R. Horton filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Stay Discovery, on August 3, 2022, ROA pp. 163-166, and a Memo in Support of Its Motion to Stay Discovery and In Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel and for Sanctions on August 16, 2022. ROA pp. 217-223. Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Compel and For Sanctions was filed August 17, 2022. ROA pp. 237-241.

On May 21, 2024, D.R. Horton filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Plaintiff McGilton and a Memo of Law in Support on May 29, 2024. ROA pp. 561-563; 570-583. The

Circuit Court denied the Motion on June 4, 2024. ROA pp. 32-34. Third-Party Defendant Kenneth Scott Builder's filed a Motion for Summary Judgment March 29, 2024. ROA pp. 540-542 . Kenneth Scott Builder's Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment was filed May 23, 2024. ROA pp. 564-569. D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Memo in Opposition to Kenneth Scott Builders' Motion for Summary Judgment as to D.R. Horton, was filed May 29, 2024. ROA pp. 630-641. The Court issued a Form 4 Order Denying Plaintiff and Defendant Motions for Summary Judgment on June 4, 2024. ROA pp. 32-34. D.R. Horton filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter Or Amend Order on its Motion for Summary Judgment on June 13, 2024. ROA pp. 733-749.

Plaintiff filed a Renewed Motion to Compel D.R. Horton and Rule to Show Cause Regarding Sanctions Per Rule 37(d), SCRCPC, on October 17, 2023. ROA pp. 523-527. The Court filed an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Compel, For Sanctions, and Holding D.R. Horton in Contempt on March 5, 2024. ROA pp. 23-31.

Various scheduling Orders have been issued during the case. D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Notice of Motion and Motion to Amend Scheduling Order was filed June 6, 2024 with a Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Extend Scheduling Order, filed June 10, 2024. The Court granted, with an Order, filed June 13 2024 (amending scheduling Order). ROA pp. 35-37. Other Consent Scheduling Orders were issued January 17, 2024; August 28, 2024, and on December 13, 2024. ROA pp. 20-22; 38-40; 41-44. A trial date had not been set and discovery was ongoing and open when the Court struck Appellant's Answer and declared it in default. ROA pp. 41-44.

Plaintiffs' Motion For Rule To Show Cause, to Strike, and for Contempt per Rule 37(d), SCRCPC, Against D.R. Horton, Inc., For continuing Violations of Orders Dated Sept. 22, 2022,

March 5, 2024, and June 13, 2024 was filed August 19, 2024. ROA pp. 798-806. This is the motion that led to the Court declaring Appellant in default and striking its answer. Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Rule to Show Cause, Consolidated Memorandum of Discovery Motions Against D.R. Horton, Inc. and Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Motion for Costs and Sanctions Against Plaintiff was filed October 14, 2024. ROA pp. 826-83.

D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Rule to Show Cause To Strike and for Contempt Per Rule 37(d), SCRCP, Against D.R. Horton, Inc. For Continuing Violations of Order Dated Sept. 22, 2022, March 5, 2022, and June 13, 2024 was filed October 16, 2024. ROA pp. 947-959. Filings regarding that Motion and Appellant's Motion for Sanctions against Plaintiff include Affidavit of Jason M. Imhoff, filed October 16, 2024, ROA pp. 973-979, Affidavit of John Crawford, filed October 11, 2024, ROA pp. 899-946, D.R. Horton's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Sanctions Per Rule 37(d), SCRCP, Against Plaintiff, filed October 16, 2024. ROA pp. 980-984, Letter and Deposition of Jared O'Sako, filed October 17, 2024, ROA pp. 1120-1331, D.R. Horton's Response and Objections to Plaintiff's Proposed Order on Rule To Show Cause, to Strike Pleadings and for Contempt, filed December 23, 2024, ROA pp. 1337-1342, Letter, filed October 18, 2024, ROA pp. 1332-1336, and Plaintiff McGilton's Reply to D.R. Horton, Inc.'s "Response," filed January 1, 2025. ROA pp. 1343-1351.

The Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions and Defaulted D.R. Horton from the case. Order, January 15, 2025. ROA pp. 45-55 D.R. Horton filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend the Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion For Rule to Show Cause, to Strike, and for Contempt on January 27, 2025. ROA pp. 1355-1368. Plaintiff filed a Return to Defendant D.R.

Horton, Inc.'s Motion for Reconsideration on February 24, 2025. ROA pp. 1550-1569. D.R.

Horton filed a Reply in Support of its Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend the Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Rule to Show Cause, to Strike, and for Contempt on March 31, 2025. ROA pp. 1942-1954. The Court issued an Order Granting in Part and Denying Part Defendant's Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend, signed June 2, 2025, filed June 3, 2025. The Order is misnamed because it did not grant anything to Appellant. ROA pp. 56-66.

Plaintiff McGilton made two Offers of Judgment to Appellant. The first was for \$6,000,000 and was filed October 3, 2024. ROA pp. 824-825. The second was filed after the Court declared Appellant in default, on June 4, 2025 for almost 3 times as much - \$15,000,000. ROA pp. 1965-1966.

Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on June 5, 2025 appealing the January 15, 2025 and June 3, 2025 Orders. ROA pp. 1967-1991.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Sanctions are an extraordinary remedy that should not be administered lightly. *See Orlando v. Boyd*, 320 S.C. 509, 511, 466 S.E.2d 353, 355 (1996) (noting that sanctions should be shaped to protect a party's discovery rights). "In determining the appropriateness of a sanction, the court should consider such factors as the precise nature of the discovery and the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and *degree of prejudice*." *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 82, 716 S.E.2d 877, 885 (2011) (emphasis added) (citation omitted). A trial court's failure to consider and weigh these factors constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Richardson ex rel. 15th Circuit Drug Enforcement Unit v. Twenty-one Thousand & No/100 Dollars (\$21,000.00) U.S.*

*Currency & Various Jewelry*, 430 S.C. 594, 600, 846 S.E.2d 14, 17 (Ct. App. 2020). The Court reviews a Circuit Court’s discovery sanction for an abuse of discretion. “An ‘abuse of discretion’ may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, and, therefore, amounted to an error of law.” *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989).

### SUMMARY OF FACTS

This case arises from a motor vehicle accident that occurred in Bluffton, South Carolina in May of 2018. *See generally*, Complaint. ROA pp. 67-81. Mr. Uriostegui was driving his company’s empty dump truck after completing his dirt moving work for the day when the dump truck crossed the center line and collided with Respondent. Complaint ¶ 9. ROA pp. 70-71. ROA pp. 565-566. Mr. Uriostegui’s company, Jacob-Au Trucking, LLC (“Jacob-Au Trucking”), owns the dump truck. Complaint ¶ 2, 3, 7. ROA pp. 1384-1385.<sup>1</sup>

Jacob-Au Trucking was hired as a subcontractor by the horizontal general contractor Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc. (“KSB”) to move dirt on at least two separate and distinct jobs. Complaint ¶¶ 7, 8. ROA pp. 70. One project is located at 1223 May River Road, and is unrelated to Cypress Ridge. The other predominately consists of the horizontal construction portion of Cypress Ridge Phase 7, along with an RV section and office building, for which D.R. Horton hired KSB as the sitework general contractor to clear, grade, and install water and

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent alleges that the dump truck was maintained by Lotty Trucking, LLC (“Lotty”). Complaint ¶ 3. ROA pp. 69.

sewage in those areas of the Cypress Ridge subdivision.<sup>2</sup> See O’Sako Aff. ¶ 11. ROA pp. 960-962. S.C. Indep. Contractor Agreement, ROA pp. 200-206. Scope of Work. ROA pp. 214-215. This is known as “horizontal construction.” May River also separately contracted with KSB for work at its nearby property.

It is undisputed that D.R. Horton did not own and was not driving the vehicle that collided with Respondent. Rather, Respondent alleges that Uriostegui worked on site development for property owned by D.R. Horton known as Cypress Ridge. Complaint, Feb. 17, 2021, ¶¶ 5, 8. ROA pp. 69-70. Respondent is desperate to come up with a relationship between Appellant and Uriostegui; however there is none. Contrary to Respondent’s claims, D.R. Horton did not control, operate, manage, engage and/or utilize Uriostegui or Jacob-AU for anything. *Id.* ¶ 13; ROA pp. 565-566. Mr. Uriostegui also confirmed that he did not know any D.R. Horton employees and did not work for D.R. Horton. ROA p. 1670 ll. 22 – 24. Respondent’s allegations against D.R. Horton are also at odds with testimony from Mr. Uriostegui stating that he had left the 1223 May River Road Project at the time of the accident (and not Cypress Ridge). Uriostegui Deposition. ROA p. 1803 ll. 4-7; p. 1872 ll. 7-14; p. 1858 ll. 10-20. Kenneth Tosky confirmed in his deposition that Mr. Uriostegui had completed the two loads of dirt to be moved that day before the accident occurred. Tosky Deposition. ROA pp. 610 (Deposition. Tr. p. 121 ll. 1-4). Mr. Uriostegui owned his own truck and was therefore free to drive it wherever he desired after work, therefore, he was off duty that day as soon as he dumped his load before the accident. Uriostegui Deposition. Affidavit, ROA pp. 674.

---

<sup>2</sup> Cypress Ridge is a subdivision located in Bluffton, South Carolina that includes over 1400 homes, commercial areas, and various amenities. ROA pp. 961. Cypress Ridge spans 1412 acres and has been developed over fifteen years through nineteen phases. ROA pp. 961.

D.R. Horton had nothing to do with the accident. Respondent was aware D.R. Horton had nothing to do with the accident, or the parties involved, likely before the complaint was ever filed and certainly after taking Mr. Uriostegui's and Mr. Tosky's depositions. Despite this knowledge, Respondent did not dismiss the case as to D.R. Horton but did dismiss the case against KSB for one million dollars.

The Circuit Court struck Appellant's Answer and declared it in default because Respondent wrongly convinced the Circuit Court that a permit Respondent obtained via a FOIA request showed D.R. Horton as a general contractor and not just an owner. Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552. Respondent hoped to prove that D.R. Horton was the general contractor for Uriostegui or Jacob-AU's horizontal land development work. However, KSB, not D.R. Horton, is the horizontal land developer general contractor for Uriostegui and Jacob-AU's work. That fact would eliminate any likelihood of D. R. Horton's liability under South Carolina law. Respondent claims that the permit is proof that D.R. Horton withheld documents and disobeyed court orders. Pl.'s Mot. Rule Show Cause, Ex. 2. ROA pp. 1487. That the permit is not evidence that D.R. Horton engaged in the horizontal development work at Cypress Ridge. It did not. In fact, D.R. Horton does not self-perform land development work. Special licensing is required to be a general contractor for the land development stage of a development. ROA pp. 961. The permit at issue is for the **vertical construction** of an office building. ROA pp. 1487. It is **not** for hauling dirt, which is **part of horizontal development** and the work that Uriostegui performed as a subcontractor for KSB on the date of the accident.

The KSB contract with D.R. Horton shows that KSB was hired as the *general contractor* for the horizontal development and that D.R. Horton had no control over that work. KSB

Contract. ROA p. 200. The vertical portion of that project which pertains to the permit Respondent complains about, is entirely separate from and has nothing to do with the site work that was being performed by KSB, Jacob-AU, and Uriostegui. Respondent's counsel knows the difference between horizontal and vertical development and knows that horizontal development is the stage of development at issue in this case, which is evidenced by Respondent's definition of "horizontal land development" in the interrogatories served on D.R. Horton. ROA pp. 135-136.

D.R. Horton did not produce the permit and related documents as part of its document production because *they are not relevant* to horizontal sitework (which is the type of development relevant to this case) and *Appellant did not understand that Respondent asked for them as part of the agreed upon narrowing of Respondent's discovery requests*. The permit itself states that it is for a building – so vertical construction. Permit. ROA pp. 1487. Appellant and Respondent discussed Respondent's significantly overbroad discovery requests and agreed to have a "discovery" deposition of a D.R. Horton employee to assist Respondent in sharpening its discovery requests to avoid having to ask the Court to intervene to limit the scope and nature of the discovery Respondent had demanded. The parties also agreed that Respondent would choose what documents it needed from phase 7 of Cypress Ridge, review them, and *let Appellant know if other discovery was needed*. Respondent did not ask for other documents. Phase 7 was chosen by Respondent because an area for which site work was being performed by KSB and its subcontractor Jacob-AU, and Mr. Uriostegui.

After reviewing the phase 7 documents, unbeknownst to Appellant, Respondent filed a FOIA request with Bluffton, South Carolina to obtain all permits and other planning department

documents from Bluffton, South Carolina for all phases and all 1400 acres and 1400 homes of Cypress Ridge.<sup>3</sup> The permit and plans were not part of the agreed upon phase 7 discovery, but rather than simply acknowledge that the permit at issue was not part of the agreed upon discovery and then following up with a request for any additional discovery needed, if any, Respondent filed a motion for sanctions to win the case that way because he knew he had no chance of winning on the facts and the law. **Respondent gave D.R. Horton no notice, made no attempt to resolve, and provided no opportunity for D.R. Horton to explain anything about that permit.**<sup>4</sup>

Around that same time, Respondent was dealing with the realization that the case it imagined and the relationships among KSB, D.R. Horton, Jacob-AU, and Mr. Uriostegui that Respondent hoped his discovery would prove were not as Respondent alleged in his complaint. The complaint is so riddled with false claims that it might be sanctionable. Respondent's own safety and compliance expert testified during a deposition that "D.R. Horton's responsibilities over the land and development merely as owner and not acting as contractor would be very limited if existent at all." ROA pp. 855.

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