RECEIVED

Mar 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2021CP2700069
Appellate Case No. 2025-001116

Mark W. McGilton, Respondent,

v.

1223 May River Road, LLC, D.R. Horton, Inc., and
Lotty Trucking, LLC f/k/a Ramos Trucking, LLC, Defendants,

of which D.R. Horton is Appellant,

AND

1223 May River Road, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc., Third-Party Defendants.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Benjamin T. Shelton
SC Bar No. 77207
Shelton Law Firm, LLC
P.O. Box 21069
Hilton Head Island, South Carolina 29925

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

amounted to an error of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989)). That is clearly not the case in this appeal, where Appellant’s contempt for multiple circuit court orders was so blatant and demonstrated, at a minimum, gross indifference.

Appellant contends that Judge Murphy abused her discretion by not analyzing factors set forth in *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 82, 716 S.E.2d 877, 885 (2011) (“In determining the appropriateness of a sanction, the court should consider such factors as the precise nature of the discovery and the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and degree of prejudice.”). Appellant contends this alleged failure results in an abuse of discretion as a matter of law under *Richardson v. Twenty-one Thousand & No/100 Dollars (\$21,000.00) U.S. Currency*, 430 S.C. 594, 600, 846 S.E.2d 14, 17 (Ct. App. 2020) (“If the court does not consider these factors, an abuse of discretion occurs”; Court reversed the trial court’s order denying a motion for sanctions for discovery abuse and remanded under instructions to grant a continuance, permit the discovery, and permit the parties to consider future strategy). (App. Br. pp. 6, 17-20, 29-37). The Court should not be persuaded by this argument.

In her amended order, Judge Murphy outlined the manner in which Respondent discovered documents that belied Appellant’s contention that it was merely the owner of the property and not the general contractor for the project:

Defendant D.R. Horton has based its defense in this case on the premise that it is merely an owner of the development and did not have a hand in the construction or act as a general contractor. (See Def. D.R. Horton, Inc.’s Mtn. for Summary Judgment as to Pl. Mark W. McGilton, and Def. D.R. Horton, Inc.’s Mtn. to Reconsider, Alter or Amend Order on its Mtn. for Summary Judgment). Defendant deposed the Plaintiff’s safety and compliance expert, highlighting the contention that D.R. Horton was purportedly merely an owner of the land and not a General Contractor. Plaintiff’s safety and compliance expert testified that D.R. Horton’s responsibilities over the land and development merely as owner and not

acting as contractor would be very limited if existent at all.

After Plaintiff's Safety and Compliance Expert testified, in a subsequent deposition Mr. Alfredo Uriostegui, the driver of the dump truck involved in the collision in this matter, testified that he regularly worked on a site in Cypress Ridge where D.R. Horton was building its regional office building. (Uriostegui Dep. 235:14-237:23). He also testified that he loaded and removed dirt from the site where D.R. Horton was building its regional office building both across Hulston Landing Rd. to another phase of the Cypress Ridge development as "good dirt." (Uriostegui Dep. 235:14-237:23). He testified further that he removed dirt from the site where D.R. Horton was building its regional office building and hauled it off site for use at other construction sites. (Uriostegui Dep. 235:14-237:23). Finally, Mr. Uriostegui testified he regularly worked all day hauling dirt from the office building site to the townhome site at Cypress Ridge. (Uriostegui Dep. 184:23-185:3).

Based upon the later deposition testimony of Mr. Uriostegui, Plaintiff's counsel searched for any permits or plans relating to what is known as the "Commercial" phase or Office/RV Lot phase of the Cypress Ridge development within material produced by Defendant D.R. Horton. While Defendant had produced invoices and payment requests from Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc. relating to the Office/RV Lot phase (showing that Kenneth Scott Builders invoiced D.R. Horton over \$300,000.00 for work), D.R. Horton produced no permits or plans relating to the Office/RV lot phase. Plaintiff filed a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request for material relating to the Office/RV lot phase of development by D.R. Horton with the Town of Bluffton. In response to the FOIA request, the Town of Bluffton produced:

1. A copy of the building permit for the regional office headquarters for D.R. Horton showing that D.R. Horton was both the applicant and the General Contractor for the regional office building within the commercial phase a/k/a office and RV phase of Cypress Ridge;
2. Documents showing that plans for the site of D.R. Horton's regional office and the R/V Lot phase were one and the same;
3. Volumes of communications (hundreds if not thousands of pages) between D.R. Horton's 30(b)(6) deponents, the Town of Bluffton concerning the control, methods, permitting, and means of the development of Cypress Ridge, and several communications between Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc. and D.R. Horton's employees; and
4. Several notices of inspection and notices of violations relating to grading,

surface and wastewater rules and regulations from the Town of Bluffton directed to Defendant D.R. Horton.

These documents tend to show that D.R. Horton was the general contractor of record for the very phase of work which was being completed by the Dump Truck Operator (as defined in Plaintiff's Complaint) when the Dump Truck Operator collided with the Plaintiff on his way back to Cypress Ridge to perform more work for D.R. Horton. The documents support Plaintiff's contention that D.R. Horton was the General Contractor over the phase of development from which the Dump Truck Operator mined dirt and regularly hauled loads of dirt off site. That is, these documents are evidence that Defendant D.R. Horton was acting as the General Contractor over the Dump Truck Operator, having power, control and responsibility over him.

The documents support Plaintiff's contention that D.R. Horton allowed an uninsured and un-maintained dump truck to operate on its construction site and the Operator to keep its truck on its construction site for well over a year. D.R. Horton concealed these facts from the Plaintiffs and failed to disclose these facts to the court in its motion for Summary Judgment. D.R. Horton was in possession of these very same documents but failed to produce them for over three years after Plaintiff's discovery requests to which these documents would have been responsive.

(Amended Order, pp. 4-7). These findings suffice to demonstrate prejudice sufficient to meet the test outlined in *CFRE*. Judge Murphy added:

This Court finds Defendant D.R. Horton has engaged in willful disobedience as well as gross indifference to the prior orders of this Court, resulting in prejudice to the Plaintiff and justifying said sanctions. *McNair v. Fairfield Cnty*, 379 S.C. 462, 665 S.E.2d 830 (Ct. App. 2008); *see also Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266[, 762 S.E.2d 535] (2014). Judge Price's order was direct; Judge Goodstein's order held D.R. Horton in contempt and provided a clear warning; and Judge Bonds' order found D.R. Horton failed to demonstrate good cause for continuing to violate prior orders. Defendant D.R. Horton's repeated disregard for the discovery process and subsequent court orders has caused prejudice to the Plaintiff.

(Amended Order, p. 8).

The record in this case provides more than reasonable evidence demonstrating Appellant's willful misconduct. Despite being served with discovery requests on July 21, 2021,

Appellant failed to produce responsive documents for nearly one (1) year. Respondent's counsel repeatedly contacted Appellant's counsel, granted Appellant an extension to respond to Respondent's discovery requests, sent his first letter pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCPP, on September 17, 2021, and then filed his first Motion to Compel and Motion for Sanctions on November 4, 2021.

Appellant continued its willful disregard for the court's orders after being held specifically held in contempt. As noted above, Respondent served his initial discovery requests on July 21, 2021. Respondent asked Appellant to identify all communications between Appellant D.R. Horton, Inc. and Kenneth Scott Builders, Inc. relating to Cypress Ridge (Plaintiff's Gen. Rog. No. 2). Respondent asked Appellant to "Set forth a list of photographs, plats, sketches or other prepared documents in possession of the party that relate to the claim or defense of this case." (Plaintiff's Stand. Rog. No. 2). Respondent asked Appellant to identify all documents "which You have knowledge relating to this lawsuit." (Plaintiff's Gen. Rog. No. 4). Further, Respondent requested a copy of any building permits, zoning permits, or other documents obtained by Appellant to develop Cypress Ridge, located at 210 Hulston Landing Rd., Bluffton, SC 29909. (Plaintiff's 1st RFP No. 11). Respondent also requested "[c]opies of all documents identified, referred to, or used in your answers to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories." (Plaintiff's 1st RFP No. 1).

This was not the first time Appellant has systematically failed to follow the orders of the trial court and the SCRCPP. Appellant failed to cure its contempt and continued to ignore the warnings of Judge Goodstein's Order. The failure to produce the most important material in this case constituted a grave violation of the court's previous Orders.

Appellant cannot demonstrate in this appeal that the striking of its answer imposed by the trial court was without reasonable factual support as it was the Appellant that failed to follow three prior court orders. Further, there is no prejudice resulting to the right of the Appellant as it was the Appellant that injected the issue of its status as general contractor into the case. The Appellant should not be permitted to come to this Court and claim that the striking of its answer was not warranted. The trial court acted within its discretion in finding that Appellant was in contempt of court multiple times and that Appellant should be sanctioned for disregarding the trial court's order. This Court should affirm.

II. The Trial Court's Sanctions Were Proportionate to the Severity of Appellant's Misconduct, Which Included Continuing Violations of a Previous Contempt Order Where Appellant Was Warned That Additional Violations May Result in its Answer Being Struck, Thereby Necessary to Protect the Integrity of the Judicial Process

Striking a party's pleading is a remedy of last resort, but it is entirely justified where lesser sanctions would be insufficient to address the misconduct. *See Halverson v. Yawn*, 328 S.C. 618, 493 S.E.2d 883 (Ct. App. 1997). In this case, the trial court considered lesser sanctions but concluded that they would not adequately address the prejudice caused to Respondent or deter similar misconduct in the future. This Court should affirm.

Appellant's discovery violations were not isolated incidents but part of a deliberate pattern of misconduct that spanned the duration of the litigation. The trial court's sanctions were necessary to protect the integrity of the judicial process and to ensure that Respondent received a fair trial. *Orlando v. Boyd*, 320 S.C. 509, 511, 466 S.E.2d 353, 355 (1996) ("Whatever sanction is imposed should serve to protect the rights of discovery provided by the rules."). Respondent was prejudiced at every stage of the litigation, by being forced to attempt to pry out any discovery

responses from Defendant, schedule matters with the Defendant, and repeatedly continue trial dates because of the Appellant's disregard of the Rules of Civil Procedure and failure to produce material until being forced to do so by the court, repeatedly. It is reasonable to believe that Respondent would never have been able to proceed to trial or know that it had all relevant material before trial given Appellant's pattern and method of willful discovery violations. Appellant's contention that the sanctions were excessive is wholly unsupported by the record.

Appellant demonstrated a "cavalier disdain of the elementary rules of civil procedure." *Welch v. Advance Auto Parts, Inc.*, 445 S.C. 640, 650, 916 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2025). As the Supreme Court in *Welch* explained, "[f]ortune may favor the bold, but a party that persists in a bold refusal to comply with basic ordered discovery may soon realize it is the architect of its own misfortune. So it is here." *Id.* The Court explained further:

Our civil procedure is guided by rules whose prime directive is to "secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." Rule 1, SCRCPP; see also *In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, 346 S.C. 177, 193, 552 S.E.2d 10, 18 (2001) ("The primary objective of discovery is to ensure that lawsuits are decided by what the facts reveal, not by what facts are concealed." (quoting *In re Alford Chevrolet-Geo*, 997 S.W.2d 173, 180 (Tex. 1999))); *id.* ("[T]he discovery process is designed to 'make a trial less a game of blind man's bluff and more a fair contest with the basic issues and facts disclosed to the fullest practicable extent.'" (quoting *United States v. Procter & Gamble Co.*, 356 U.S. 677, 682, 78 S. Ct. 983, 2 L. Ed.2d 1077 (1958))). A party can foul out of the process. See *Innovative Waste*, [445 S.C. 19, 22, 911 S.E.2d 406, 407 (2025)] ("[I]n discovery, time does eventually run out on bad behavior.").

Welch, at 656, 916 S.E.2d at 329.

Appellant persisted in a bold refusal to abide by the orders entered by Judge Price, Judge Goodstein, and Judge Bonds. It is the architect of its own misfortune. *Welch*. Even after Judge Murphy held the Rule to Show Cause hearing, Appellant produced thousands of pages of project

files which it had not previously produced. (R.). Then, on December 23, 2024, three and a half (3 ½) years after receiving Respondent’s discovery requests and over a year after the December 6, 2023, hearing where Judge Goodstein held Appellant in contempt for its discovery violations, Appellant informed Respondent that it had identified additional responsive material and had collected approximately 46,000 emails potentially responsive to Respondents’ requests. (R.). Judge Murphy proceeded in the only manner that would ensure respect for the administration of justice and vindication of the Respondent’s right to full and fair discovery.

The Court should affirm Judge Murphy’s discretionary ruling striking Appellant’s answer and declaring Appellant in default.

III. Appellant Waived its Right to Appeal or Otherwise Contend the Facts and Basis of Judge Goodstein’s March 3, 2024 Order of Contempt and Sanctions When it Failed to Appeal that Order, Continued to Violate Orders of the Court Without Good Cause, and Continued to Conceal Important, Responsive Discovery Material

Appellant contends the discovery Respondent served was “overbroad” and burdensome, and sought material that was irrelevant. (App. Br. Pp. 37-39). The Court should decline to address this argument.

Appellant never objected to the discovery or sought a protective order pursuant to Rule 26(c), SCRCP. Furthermore, Appellant appealed only from Judge Murphy’s January 15, 2025, order finding Appellant violated the prior orders (including Judge Goodstein’s warning) and the June 3, 2025, order resolving Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration. (Notice of Appeal with attachments). Appellant failed to appeal the intermediate orders entered by Judge Price, Judge Goodstein or Judge Bonds, including the order of contempt. Those rulings are therefore the law

of this case. See, e.g., *Daufuskie Island Utility Co., Inc. v. South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff*, 440 S.C. 523, 530, 892 S.E.2d 302, 306 (2023) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”); *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.”); *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (a party may not seek relief from an order not appealed “because the order has become the law of the case”); *Buffalo Creek Investments, Inc. v. Pettus*, 440 S.C. 111, 119, 889 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2023) (same).

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